LIVER REGENERATION

Anna Mae Diehl

Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. General mechanisms that regulate hepatocyte mass
 - 3.1 Healthy adult livers
 - 3.1.1. Continuous rejuvenation by hepatic progenitors
 - 3.1.2. Replication of mature hepatocytes
 - 3.2 During recovery from injury
 - 3.2.1. Hyperplasia of mature hepatocytes
 - 3.2.2. Stem cell hyperplasia
 - 3.2.3. Hepatocyte hypertrophy
- 4. Animal models of liver regeneration
 - 4.1 Partial hepatectomy
 - 4.2 Toxin-induced liver injury
- 5. Regulation of regeneration after PH
 - 5.1 Initiation of regeneration (G-1 phase of the cycle)
 - 5.1.1. Injurious factors
 - 5.1.2. Oxidant generation and protective adaptations
 - 5.1.3. Preservation of differentiated functions
 - 5.1.4. Release from replicative quiescence
 - 5.2 Replication of genetic material (S phase)
 - 5.2.1 Mitagonia factors
 - 5.2.1. Mitogenic factors
 - 5.2.2. Mitogenic signaling
 - 5.3 Cell division (G2-Mitosis (M) phase)
- 6. Down-regulation of the proliferative response
- 7. Summary of mechanisms that regulate hepatocyte proliferation after PH
- 8. Tissue repair and remodeling after PH
 - 8.1 Cytokine microenvironment
 - 8.2 Matrix deposition and lobular reorganization
- 9. Future applications of liver regeneration knowledge
 - 9.1 Rescue from fulminant liver failure
 - 9.1.1. Auxiliary heterotopic liver transplantation
 - 9.1.2. Hepatocyte transplantation
 - 9.1.3. Artificial liver assist devices
 - 9.2 Treatment of decompensated cirrhosis
 - 9.2.1. Small-for-size donors (split livers and living donors)
- 10. Summary
- 11. References

1. ABSTRACT

Unlike other vital organs, the liver typically regenerates after injury. Indeed, the very factors that cause liver injury initiate a reparative process in the residual liver that includes the induction of cytoprotective mechanisms, deletion of mortally wounded cells, repair of less damaged survivors, liver cell proliferation to replace the cells that died, the deposition of new matrix, and tissue remodeling to restore normal hepatic mass and architecture. During liver regeneration, the liver normally continues to perform vital, liver-specific functions. Unfortunately, the hepatic

regenerative response sometimes becomes disrupted - either failing to occur or occurring in a disordered, or incomplete fashion. Abnormal regeneration contributes to the pathogenesis of fulminate liver failure, cirrhosis, and primary liver cancers. Research in the field of regenerative biology has identified several events that are required for liver regeneration. These include injury-induced changes in the hepatic microenvironment, the ability of surviving liver cells and/or their progenitors to proliferate, and a temporary suspension of homeostatic mechanisms that

normally couple cell proliferation to programmed cell death. The signals that mediate these complex biologic responses are being detailed. A better understanding of the extra- and intracellular signals that prompt the injured liver to regenerate should suggest treatments to promote liver regeneration in patients with otherwise fatal liver diseases.

2. INTRODUCTION

Liver regeneration is a remarkable process that allows complete restoration of hepatic architecture and tissue specific function after many different types of liver injury (1). Liver regeneration occurs when liver cells proliferate to replace other liver cells that have died. The enormous regenerative capacity of the adult liver distinguishes the liver from other vital organs, which have a much more limited ability to regenerate. In addition to its role during recovery from injury, liver regeneration is required to maintain the day-to-day survival of the organ because, even in healthy adults, some liver cells undergo programmed cell death, i.e., apoptosis, every day. If these cells were not replaced, the liver would gradually atrophy. Liver size remains constant because dead cells are replaced by proliferation of some of the remaining cells. Ultimately, liver mass is determined by the relative rates of cell proliferation and cell death. When the liver is injured, the rate of liver cell death increases as liver cells are killed by necrosis and/or apoptosis. This injury triggers a proliferative response in the surviving cells, permitting the organ to regenerate and allowing eventual recovery to normal health. During regeneration, restoration of tissue integrity requires the balanced reconstitution of several different liver cell populations (e.g., hepatocytes, biliary epithelial cells, endothelial cells, stellate cells, lymphocytes and macrophages), as well as the hepatic matrix that provides their scaffolding. Over the past three decades, much has been learned about the mechanisms that regulate liver regeneration. This knowledge has suggested new therapeutic strategies that may benefit patients with a wide variety of liver diseases.

3. GENERAL MECHANISMS THAT REGULATE HEPATOCYTE MASS

3.1. In Healthy Adult Livers

3.1.1. Continuous rejuvenation by hepatic progenitors

The role of hepatic progenitor (i.e., stem) cells in maintaining healthy liver mass has been the subject of much debate. Controversy rages because unique markers for liver stem cells have not been defined yet (2), limiting conclusive identification of this compartment, which is generally believed to include small, oval cells that exist along the canals of Herring (3). This oval cell population is probably heterogeneous, containing a relatively large number of cells that are committed to the liver lineage but which can differentiate into either hepatocytes or biliary epithelial cells, and a much smaller sub-population of other cells that are more pluripotent, including a tiny number of true stem cells that are capable of differentiating along either an epithelial (e.g., hepatic or pancreatic) or hematopoietic lineage (4). Because healthy adult livers have a very low proliferative index (i.e., < 1:1000 hepatocytes are replicating their DNA at any point in time) (5), it is believed that relatively few progenitor cells reside

there. However, recent evidence that stem cells derived from adult bone marrows localize within the livers of adult recipients (6) and differentiate into hepatocytes (7) demonstrates that hepatic progenitor cells persist in adulthood These cells arise in, or circulate through, the bone marrow (8), suggesting that the tiny population of stem cells that exists in adult livers is probably replenished continuously from a larger boned marrow reservoir of stem cells. However, the signals that recruit stem cells to the adult liver and the factors that instruct their expansion and subsequent differentiation are poorly understood.

3.1.2. Replication of mature hepatocytes

The low proliferative index of mature hepatocytes matches the low prevalence of hepatocyte apoptosis in healthy adult livers. During health, there is a gradient of hepatocyte DNA synthesis across the liver lobule, with the highest proliferative index occurring in peri-portal hepatocytes and the lowest index occurring in hepatocytes near terminal hepatic venules (1, 5). Some investigators propose that the progressive decline of proliferative activity in aging progeny from peri-portal stem cells drives the portal-to-central gradient of hepatocyte DNA synthesis (9-12). Others argue that the portal-to-central gradient of soluble, gut-derived hepatotrophic factors is predominately responsible for the zonal distribution of proliferation in mature hepatocytes (13, 14). Ongoing debate is fueled by recent evidence that hepatic progenitors may be distributed throughout the liver lobule, rather than merely clustered peri-portally (15, 16). In addition, the marrow-like environment of the spleen may provide a reservoir for hepatic progenitors (13), providing a steady supply of precursor cells that can be carried into the liver from the spleen with the portal blood flow. In any case, the importance of portal venous factors (soluble or cellular) as regulators of day-to-day hepatocyte proliferative activity is supported by evidence that the liver atrophies when deprived of portal blood flow (14, 17, 18). In addition, hepatocyte proliferation normally fluctuates over the course of the day and is highest post-prandially, when portal venous blood flow to the liver increases (19,

3.2. During Recovery from Injury

3.2.1. Hyperplasia of mature hepatocytes

Because DNA synthesis and mitoses increase dramatically in mature-appearing (i.e., differentiated) adult hepatocytes after the liver has been injured by 70% partial hepatectomy (PH) or various hepatotoxins, it is thought that adult hepatocytes can proliferate when they are "challenged" to do so (1). However, despite decades of study, the ultimate proliferative capacity of mature hepatocytes remains unclear. As mentioned earlier, most mature hepatocytes in healthy livers are not actively synthesizing DNA. Indeed, extensive analyses of growth-related gene expression in adult livers demonstrates that most adult hepatocytes have exited the proliferative phases of the cell cycle and spend most of their lives in a growth-arrested (G-0) state. At issue is whether or not these cells can re-enter the cell cycle and replicate.

Various approaches, including the isolation and culture of primary adult hepatocytes, have been used to

answer this question. When cultured in the presence of growth factors, adult hepatocytes up-regulate prereplicative genes, such as c-jun, and synthesize DNA, but proliferate poorly, if at all (21). However, it is possible that the poor replicative activity of hepatocytes in vitro is merely an artifact of arduous isolation protocols or sub-optimal culture conditions (22-26). Indeed, other experimental approaches, such as transplantation experiments with rat hepatocytes, have generated support for the concept that mature hepatocytes retain a considerable capacity for proliferation in vivo. In one study, labeled hepatocytes isolated from adult donor livers were transplanted directly into one lobe of a recipient rat's liver after ligating portal vein branches to the other lobes ²⁷

Deprived of portal blood flow, those segments involuted but eventually, the entire recipient liver mass was repopulated by donor hepatocytes. Based on the number of hepatocytes that were transplanted, the authors concluded that a single hepatocyte can divide at least 34 times, giving rise to 1.7 x 10(10) daughter cells. This implies that a single rat hepatocyte has the clonogenic potential to generate 50 adult rat livers. However, it is difficult to exclude the possibility that the donor liver cells used in these studies might have included one or two pluripotent progenitor (i.e., stem) cells.

Perhaps the oldest and most widely cited argument for the proliferative capability of mature hepatocytes is the adult liver's ability to regenerate completely after PH (28). Indeed, the ancient Greek myth about Prometheus revolves around the liver's ability to regenerate after pieces of liver have been removed. Post-PH regeneration has immediate clinical relevance to the recovery from hepatic resection and, hence, to liver trauma, cancer surgery, split-liver transplantation and living donor hepatic transplantation. By studying the process of liver regeneration after PH in rodents, much has been learned about the mechanisms that are likely to regulate normal liver regeneration in humans. Thus, this information will be discussed in detail subsequently.

3.2.2. Stem cell hyperplasia

Within the last 5 years, several studies have shown that hepatic progenitors persist in adults and some have demonstrated that these cells regenerate the injured liver under certain circumstances. For example, components of the normally-tiny oval cell compartment (i.e., the resident hepatic progenitor cells) expand and repopulate the remnant liver when animals are subjected to PH following pre-treatment with drugs that inhibit the proliferation of more mature hepatocytes (29-31). This finding suggests that the regenerative capacity of hepatic progenitor cells is enormous, even in adults. More definitive proof for this concept was recently published by Grompe's group who were able to completely regenerate the lethally damaged livers of FAH knockout mice (a model for tyrosinemia) by transplanting bone marrowderived stem cells from healthy wild type donors (7). These results have revolutionized thinking among liver regeneration researchers and opened new areas for investigation. Important issues that must be addressed

include the role of endogenous stem cells in chronic liver diseases and the utility of stem cell transplantation as a therapy for various acute and chronic forms of liver injury.

3.2.3. Hepatocyte Hypertrophy

Hepatocytes enlarge (i.e., hypertrophy) in many liver diseases. A recent report from Thorgeirsson's group suggests that hepatic hypertrophy may occur as a compensatory mechanism to restore normal liver mass when hepatocyte proliferation is inhibited. Rats that underwent PH after being treated with dexamethasone or 5-fluorouracil to inhibit hepatocyte proliferation were able to recover liver mass without inducing hepatic DNA synthesis. The restoration of liver mass was accomplished by the preferential enlargement/hypertrophy of the periportal hepatocytes. The hypertrophied state was not stable, because once the DNA synthesis inhibitors were withdrawn, the enlarged hepatocytes entered the cell cycle and normal liver structure and DNA content were reestablished (32).

4. ANIMAL MODELS OF LIVER REGENERATION

Regeneration is important for recovery from a wide variety of liver injuries. To design therapies to optimize hepatic regeneration, it is necessary to clarify the mechanisms that regulate this complex process. Work in cell culture systems has been helpful in delineating the signal transduction pathways of several hepatocyte However, because, as mentioned earlier, mitogens. primary cultured hepatocytes have limited replicative ability and precisely coordinated responses among various liver cell populations are necessary for liver regeneration, in vitro studies must be complemented by work in animal Because cellular proliferation occurs very models. infrequently in the healthy liver, these animal models injure the liver to provoke a regenerative response that can be studied. Two general strategies (partial liver resection or toxin-induced liver injury) have been used to induced hepatic regeneration.

4.1. Partial hepatectomy

Two -thirds partial hepatectomy (PH) in mice and rats has been a particularly useful model for defining events that regulate the proliferation of mature hepatocytes because it provides a unique opportunity to evaluate mammalian cell cycle progression in vivo. Because virtually all hepatocytes are in G-0 at the time of PH and PH is a temporally circumscribed "insult", remaining hepatocytes enter the pre-replicative phase of the cell cycle (G-1) relatively synchronously. To monitor the kinetics of DNA synthesis following PH, rats were partially hepatectomized and killed at various times during the first day and after 1, 2, 3, 7, and 14 days post-PH. One hour before killing, each rat was injected intraperitoneally with tritiated thymidine or bromo-deoxyuridine to label newly synthesized DNA and autoradiography immunohistochemistry was done to calculate the hepatocyte labelling index (33, 34). These studies demonstrate that DNA synthesis (S phase) in mature hepatocytes begins at around 24 hours and the labeling index reaches its peak value of 3-4% on day 3 post-PH.

This represents a 26-fold (2600 %) increase in the hepatocyte labeling index over basal, pre-PH values. During the same time hepatocytes double their ploidy, suggesting that half of the observed labeling index increase is directed to DNA accumulation and half to cell division. If this interpretation is valid, then the hepatocyte production rate increases 13 fold during the initial 72 h after PH. However, careful morphometry of regenerating livers suggests that hepatocyte proliferation may not be this robust because the hepatic acini increase in size by only about 15% during this time period. This is not sufficient to accommodate the number of hepatocytes that would be generated by an acute 1300% increase in proliferative activity (33). This finding suggests that much of the acute post-PH increase in hepatocyte labeling index occurs because damaged hepatocyte DNA is being repaired. Never-the-less, the initial 72 hours after PH offers a "window" to scrutinize events that regulate G-0 to G-1 and G-1 to S phase transition in adult hepatocytes. Indeed, it may be the only system available to study G-0 to G-1 phase transition in normal hepatocytes, because virtually all freshly isolated and cultured primary or neoplastic hepatocytes have already entered G-1 (1). Traditionally, the PH model is considered to be a "pure" model of regeneration because the remnant liver lobes are not directly manipulated (i.e., injured) at the time of PH (28). Indeed, the dearth of overt injury has prompted some concern that the PH model may not reliably mimic events that regulate hepatocyte proliferation after toxic or infectious liver injury (1). However, serum aminotransferase levels usually increase in healthy rats and mice after PH. Also, careful inspection of liver sections in these animals typically reveals rare scattered foci of swollen hepatocytes that are variably associated with hemorrhage and small cell infiltrates (35-37). Moreover, sections that have been stained to detect apoptosis demonstrate increased apoptotic bodies during the first hour following PH (38). Despite early post-PH liver damage, the liver goes on to regenerate the resected mass within 10-14 days (1).

4.2. Toxin-induced liver injury

Regeneration can also be studied after liver injury has been caused by various hepatotoxins (e.g., dgalactosamine, carbon tetrachloride, thioacetamide. acetaminophen) (39). This strategy mimics a common clinical problem (i.e., toxic liver injury). Thus, results obtained in this model system are likely to be clinically relevant to large groups of patients. However, ongoing liver cell injury may make it difficult to differentiate mechanisms that promote hepatocyte proliferation from those that lead to heaptocyte death. In addition, because toxicity generally occurs over hours to days, the compensatory hepatocyte proliferative response is not Hence at any given point in time, synchronous. proliferating hepatocytes are likely to be in different stages of the cell cycle, confounding data interpretation. Finally, in many types of toxic liver injury, inflammatory cells infiltrate the liver, and it may be difficult to distinguish responses occurring in these cells from those that are occurring in resident liver cell populations (40). Given the complexity of toxin-induced models of hepatocyte

proliferation, this review focuses on information that has been obtained by studying the more simplistic PH model.

5. REGULATION OF REGENERATION AFTER PH

5.1. Initiation of regeneration (G-1 phase of the cell cycle)

5.1.1. Injurious Factor

All types of liver injury challenge surviving hepatocytes to proliferate. In general terms, regeneration from liver injury begins because some injury related-factors initiate a proliferative response in the surviving cells. Ironically, this "initiator" function is performed by specific molecules that can also mediate cell death. For example, the injury related cytokine, tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNFα) and some of its intracellular products, reactive oxygen species (ROS), are necessary to push quiescent (G-0) hepatocytes into the early pre-replicative phase of the cell cycle (i.e., G-1) after PH. Proof of the fact that these potentially toxic molecules initiate the regenerative response has been provided by studies of experimental animals that were pre-treated with neutralizing antibodies to TNFα or which were genetically manipulated so that they did not express type 1 TNF receptors, which contain cytosolic "death" domains. PH is not followed by the usual burst of ROS production by hepatic mitochondria and liver regeneration fails to occur in such animals (38, 41, 42). However, disruption of type 2 TNF receptors, which lack these "death" domains, has no effect on liver regeneration

5.1.2. Oxidant Generation and Protective Adaptations

It remains poorly understood why activation of type 1 TNF receptors (which are capable of initiating apoptosis) and increased mitochondrial oxidant release (which can damage cellular DNA and other vital components) (44) culminate in regeneration, rather than death, after PH. TNF α kills cultured adult hepatocytes only when protein synthesis has been inhibited, suggesting that these cells typically induce various protective mechanisms that block death signals that are initiated by TNF-TNF receptor 1 interaction (45). Apparently, activation of similar cytoprotective mechanisms occurs in regenerating hepatocytes and this is sufficient to prevent massive hepatocyte lethality after PH. In support of this concept, the activity of the anti-apoptotic transcription factor NF-kB increases in a TNF-dependent manner within 15 minutes after PH (42, 46). Pre-treatment of mice with adenoviral vectors for IKappaB prevents NF-kB activation and causes massive liver cell apoptosis after PH (47). Presumably, NF-kB induction protects hepatocytes by activating the transcription of a number of cytoprotective genes. To date, one of these, inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS), has been identified. Nitric oxide, the product of iNOS, inhibits TNF-dependent activation of caspases and is known to protect hepatocytes from TNFmediated apoptosis (48-50). In normal mice, iNOS is induced in hepatocytes during the middle of the prereplicative period following PH (51). Although iNOSdeficient mice do not have obviously abnormal livers before PH, PH induces massive liver cell apoptosis and liver failure, rather than hepatocyte proliferation, in these animals (52). Together with evidence that several other stress-activated genes, including manganese superoxide dismutase and bcl-xL, are induced during the pre-replicative period following PH (53), this finding suggests that regeneration succeeds when hepatocytes survive oxidative stress and escape apoptosis. This finding is particularly intriguing in light of evidence that hepatogenesis requires similar protection during embryonic development.

5.1.3 Preservation of Differentiated Functions

As hepatocytes enter G-1 in response to TNF and TNF-regulated cytokines, such as interleukin-6 (IL-6), that are induced by PH (41), hepatocyte gene expression is reprogrammed to meet the unique demands imposed by the stress of liver injury. In addition to up-regulating genes that protect hepatocytes themselves from oxidants and apoptosis, hepatocytes modify their expression of other genes that are involved in the generalized acute phase response (54-56). This occurs because TNF and TNFinducible cytokines regulate transcription factors, such as CCAAT/enhancer binding protein (C/EBP) isoforms, that modulate the expression of many liver-specific genes (57-62). These C/EBP isoforms also regulate cell proliferation. C/EBP α , a growth arrest gene (63, 64), is constitutively expressed in mature hepatocytes (65). TNF inhibits C/EBP α (66). C/EBP β (also known as liver activating protein (LAP) or nuclear factor IL-6 (NF-IL-6)), a growthpermissive C/EBP isoform, is weakly expressed by hepatocytes in the healthy liver but is one of the major transcription factors that regulate acute-phase gene expression by hepatocytes during inflammation (67). C/EBP β is induced by IL-6. During inflammation, a third C/EBP isoform, C/EBP delta, is also induced in hepatocytes (59).

5.1.4. Release from Replicative Quiescence

Reciprocal changes in C/EBP isoform expression and activity are thought to regulate cell cycle progression, although the mechanisms involved are not completely understood. Shortly after PH, the DNA binding activity of C/EBPa transiently declines, whereas that of C/EBPB and C/EBP delta transiently increases. Pretreatment with anti-TNF antibodies before PH inhibits these differential variations in the C/EBPs (68), indicating that TNF plays a critical role in regulating these changes during liver regeneration. Other studies show that TNF modulates C/EBP function indirectly by inducing IL-6 (41) and also directly by interacting with its receptors on hepatocytes to rapidly modulate the DNA-binding activity of various C/EBPs (69). These cytokine-induced changes in C/EBP activity help to rapidly reprogram hepatocyte gene expression to meet regenerative demands. Both C/EBPa and C/EBPB also operate at post-transcriptional levels to modulate hepatocyte progression through the prereplicative (G1) period. For example, C/EBPα physically interacts with p21 protein. This interaction stabilizes p21 which functions as a potent cell cycle inhibitor in hepatocytes (70, 71). Therefore, the down regulation of constitutively expressed growth-arrest C/EBP isoforms, such as C/EPBα, permits liver cell proliferation (72-74). Meanwhile the induction of LIP, a truncated translation

products of the C/EBP β gene, further inhibits interactions between C/EBP α and p21, thereby promoting p21 degradation and cell cycle progression (71). The up regulation of "growth-permissive" C/EBP β isoforms that can substitute for C/EBP α to trans-activate C/EBP-regulated genes also preserves differentiated, liver-specific gene expression as the liver regenerates (73). This response is essential, as demonstrated by evidence that liver regeneration and survival after PH are inhibited significantly in C/EBP β knockout mice (75). This discussion illustrates the complex molecular mechanisms that balance requirements for increased cellular proliferation with the necessity of maintaining liver-specific functions as the adult liver regenerates.

5.2. Replication of Genetic Material (S phase)

Cells that enter into the pre-replicative phase of the cell cycle do not always progress into S phase, where DNA replication occurs. In fact, a number of mechanisms exist to arrest cell cycle progression at the boundary between G-1 and S phase in cells that have suffered serious oxidative damage (76). Even in non-damaged cells, progression into replicative phases of the cells cycle (i.e., S phase) requires signals in addition to those that are directly generated by the injury-related cytokines that initiate entry into G-1.

5.2.1. Mitogenic Factors

Factors that help G-1 hepatocytes to progress into S phase have been isolated from the serum of animals that have undergone PH. Some of these (e.g., EGF, transforming growth factor alpha (TGF α)), hepatocyte growth factor (HGF)) are considered complete mitogens because they stimulate DNA synthesis when added to serum-free primary hepatocyte cultures. Others (e.g., insulin, glucagon, norepinephrine, hepatotrophic stimulator substance (HSS)), termed comitogens, can only enhance mitogen-induced DNA synthesis under these conditions but are incapable of promoting synthesis in the absence of mitogens. Still other factors (members of the TGF β /activan superfamily) inhibit mitogen-induced DNA synthesis in cultured hepatocytes (39).

Although all these factors were isolated after PH. it has been difficult to prioritize their importance as mediators of liver regeneration. For example, in one study, pretreatment of rats with neutralizing antibodies to EGF failed to inhibit liver regeneration after PH (77). Other experiments showed that transgenic mice with targeted over expression of TGF alpha in the liver did not have supra-maximal liver regeneration after PH (78, 79) (44-45). Subsequent work demonstrated that the livers of TGF alpha-null mice regenerate after PH (80). One possible explanation for these results is that there are redundant mechanisms to ensure hepatocyte proliferation after PH. Indeed, both EGF and TGF α bind to the same hepatocyte receptor, and so, these mitogens can probably substitute for each other (80). It has not yet been possible to clarify the role of HGF after PH because knockout mice with homozygous deletions of genes that encode either HGF or its receptor, c-Met, show arrested hepatic development and die as embryos (81, 82). Direct intraportal injections of large doses of HGF caused only a slight increase in hepatocyte DNA synthesis in healthy rats (83). However, tail vein injection of large volumes (1 ml) of HGF expressing plasmid DNA into healthy mice (which normally have blood volumes of < 3 ml) resulted in sustained induction of hepatic HGF expression, increased hepatocyte DNA synthesis and hepatomegaly (84). The acute volume overload induced by this experimental approach causes temporary vascular congestion within the liver and the associated liver injury might have contributed to HGF's proliferative actions. In support of this possibility, when infusion of other mitogens is preceded by even a minor hepatic insult (e.g., infusion of collagenase, one-third hepatectomy), dramatic increases in hepatocyte DNA synthesis ensue (85). Presumably, injury-related signals also modulate the actions of co-mitogens, such as insulin and adrenergic hormones, because these factors do not cause healthy hepatocytes to proliferate (39). However, liver regeneration after PH is inhibited in insulin-deficient rats (86) and in rats treated with inhibitors of alpha- or beta-adrenergic receptors (87). Thus, hormones that regulate metabolic and stress responses do play some role in regulating the regenerative response to PH. Taken together, the previous results demonstrate that mitogens and co-mitogens are most effective when introduced to hepatocytes that have been "primed" (i.e., sensitized) to accept proliferative signals because of antecedant, injuryrelated events.

5.2.2. Mitogenic Signaling

Given the difficulty of dissecting the hepatotrophic effects of various mitogens and comitogens in intact animal models of liver regeneration, most of the knowledge about their signaling pathways has been obtained by working in vitro. By studying cultured cells in tightly controlled conditions, much has been learned about the cellular mechanisms that promote cellular proliferation in response to mitogens and comitogens. In various types of cells, mitogenic factors promote proliferation by interacting with specific receptors on the plasma Most mitogens and comitogens activate membrane. receptors with intrinsic tyrosine kinase activity (i.e., receptor tyrosine kinases (RTKs)). Autophosphorylation of tyrosine residues in the receptor's cytosolic domain recruits cytosolic adaptor proteins that couple the receptor to various enzymes that generate different effector molecules. Receptors for some comitogens (e.g., glucagon, norepineprine) lack intrinsic tyrosine kinase activity but can couple to RTKs or to cytosolic tyrosine kinases that permit activation of some of the same effector cascades. These effector cascades generally involve a series of phosphorylation reactions that are mediated by protein kinases, which are, themselves, activated by phosphorylation. Tyrosine kinase activation of Ras, Raf, and downstream serine-threonine kinases, including the mitogen-activated kinases (MAPKs), has been shown to be particularly important in promoting proliferation because mutations that permit constitutive activation of this cascade generally result in neoplastic transformation in hepatocytes (reviewed in (88)).

Although several cytosolic and nuclear targets of MAPKs have been identified, transcription factors that are

phosphorylated by MAPKs are probably the critical downstream, growth-regulatory molecules because mutations that constitutively activate these target nuclear proteins are also transforming (89). MAPK-induced transcription factors promote cellular proliferation by increasing the expression of various genes, including those that encode transcription factors and other proteins that regulate progression through later stages of the cell cycle. Somewhat paradoxical is recent evidence that sustained (i.e., "hyper") phosphorylation of MAPKs inhibits cellular proliferation. At least one mechanism involved has been identified: prolonged activation of MAPK leads to prolonged activation of C/EBP β , a MAPK target, which then causes excessive transcription of the growth inhibitor, p21 (90-92).

Mitogens also activate many other kinases, including the stress-activated kinase cascade (SAPK), protein kinase C and protein kinase B (Akt) that modulate cellular sensitivity to apoptosis (93-95). Interestingly, all of these mitogen-regulated kinase cascades are also regulated by the injury-related cytokine TNF α . Mitogens and TNF also regulate the inhibitor kappaB kinases (IKK) which promote the disassociation of NF-kB from its cytosolic binding proteins, permitting NF-kB to localize in the nucleus where it activates the transcription of target genes that prevent apoptosis (96, 97). Interestingly, IKK activity is required for the MAPK cascade to induce neoplastic transformation in cultured liver cells because neoplasia is blocked by agents that specifically inhibit the redistribution of NF-kB to the nucleus (94). These results provide a mechanism that may explain why NF-kBregulated anti-apoptotic responses are necessary for the expansion of liver cell number that is required for both liver development (98, 99) and regeneration (47).

5.3. Cell Division (G2-Mitosis (M) phase)

After cellular DNA has been replicated, additional mechanisms are activated to assure that the cell is ready to divide into two daughter cells. Damaged cells that escaped the G-1-S checkpoint are often arrested at this stage of the cell cycle (100). Because cells in G2-M have completed S phase, they contain extra copies of DNAs and are designated as polyploid (i.e., tetraploid, octaploid, etc, according to the number of extra sets of chromosomes that they contain). PH increases the number of polyploid hepatocytes (33). The proportion of polyploid hepatocytes increases with age (101, 102) and exposure to oxidative stress or other DNA damaging agents (24, 103). Experiments with fibroblasts from mice in which the mismatch repair gene, Msh 2, had been inactivated suggest that DNA base excision repair mechanisms may regulate DNA ploidy (104). Interestingly, certain types of cells that are vulnerable to TNF killing die during the G2-M period after being exposed to TNFα during late G-1 (105). This information suggest that hepatocyte ploidy may increase post-PH because TNF-damaged hepatocytes become arrested in G2 so that they can be repaired or deleted. If true, then this might help to explain why massive hepatocyte apoptosis occurs after the period of hepatocyte DNA synthesis in mice that were pre-treated with NK-kB inhibitors and then subjected to PH (47).

6. DOWN-REGULATION OF THE PROLIFERATIVE RESPONSE

A major unanswered question in liver regeneration is how the liver "knows" when regeneration has been completed and reverts to its normal state of low proliferative activity. TGF β and other factors that inhibit cellular proliferation have been identified in the liver, both before and after PH (106). TGF β expression increases transiently in the regenerating liver, suggesting that it may provide important growth-arrest signals. Consistent with this possibility, treatment with TGF b delays liver regeneration following PH (107). However, transgenic mice that over-express TGF β are able to regenerate their livers after PH (108). Thus, additional mechanisms must be involved in terminating the proliferative response that follows PH. It is conceivable that replicative quiescence (G-0) is the "default" pathway in hepatocytes and that proliferation requires the persistence of factors that initiate entry into G-1 (e.g., cytokines) as well as factors that promote progression through the replicative stages of the cell cycle (e.g., mitogens and co-mitogens). In any case, a better understanding of these events has important implications for the pathogenesis of hepatic malignancies that typically arise in the context of diseases that cause chronic liver injury and repair.

7. SUMMARY OF MECHANISMS THAT REGULATE HEPATOCYTE PROLIFERATION AFTER PH

During liver regeneration after PH, injury-related cytokines, mitogens and comitogens interact with hepatocyte receptors that activate kinases that transiently modify the activity of pre-formed transcription factors such that these factors enhance the transcription of a wide array of target genes. All of this happens rapidly (within minutes) and does not require de novo protein synthesis. This immediate response is terminated when the kinase targets are returned to their normal, inactive state by phosphatases. However, by then, a more sustained response has already been initiated because the synthesis of various proteins that are necessary for cellular repair and proliferation has been induced. Some of these proteins are transcription factors that, in turn, increase the expression of other genes. Others are enzymes that are necessary to protect hepatocytes from apoptosis and to maintain hepatocyte-specific functions during increased proliferative activity. Still others are structural proteins that must be duplicated during cellular replication. During hepatocyte proliferation, all of these different types of proteins are not induced simultaneously. Rather, mechanisms coordinate the sequential induction of proteins that are necessary for the cell to progress through a series of "check points" that ensure that it is healthy and prepared to replicate. After PH, the number of proliferating hepatocytes increases transiently and proliferative activity declines to basal, pre-PH levels once the liver mass has been restored.

A more detailed review of growth-regulatory signal transduction is beyond the scope of this chapter. Suffice it to say, the work of many groups is leading to a

relatively detailed understanding of several proliferative signaling cascades that can be activated by factors that regulate hepatocyte progression through the cell cycle. However, much remains to be learned about the mechanisms that coordinate hepatocyte replication with the proliferation of other types of liver cells (e.g., biliary epithelial cells, endothelial cells, stellate cells, and components of the innate immune system) and with the reconstitution of the connective tissue matrix of the liver. Similar to hepatocyte proliferation, the latter responses are also necessary to regenerate this complex tissue.

8. TISSUE REPAIR AND REMODELING AFTER PH

Although extra-hepatic tissues are major sources of certain mitogens (e.g., EGF is produced by salivary and duodenal Brunner's glands) and co-mitogens (e.g., insulin is produced by pancreatic beta cells) (86, 109), most of the growth-modulatory factors that regulate hepatic regeneration are derived within the hepatic microenvironment. This is well illustrated by the PH model, which normally provokes a cascade of cytokines within the liver.

8.1. Cytokine Microenvironment

TNF α is an early participant in the cytokine cascade that is induced within minutes of PH (110). TNF α, in turn, induces IL-6, which increases later in the prereplicative period (41). Studies of IL-6-null mice demonstrate that this cytokine plays a key role in the regenerative response. Hepatocyte proliferation after PH is severely inhibited and post-PH liver injury and mortality are increased in mice that are genetically-deficient in IL-6 (111). Pre-treatment of TNF receptor-1-deficient mice with IL-6 restores normal regeneration after PH, demonstrating that IL-6 is a key effector of the TNF-initiated proliferative response to PH (42). However, IL-6 does not promote DNA synthesis in cultured hepatocytes (112). suggests that, similar to TNF α , the proliferative effects of IL-6 require cooperation of other growth-modulatory molecules that are produced in the injured liver. Evidence that TNF and IL-6 stimulate hepatic stellate cells to produce HGF supports this concept (113). HGF, in turn, activates hepatocyte production of TGF α , which functions as an autocrine growth factor. Hepatic expression of many other cytokines also increases transiently after PH. Some of these (e.g., IL-12 and interferon γ) promote the biologic activity of TNF α . Others (e.g., IL-10 and TGF β) inhibit it Thus, experimental manipulations or naturally occurring events that inhibit the injury-related cytokines, TNF α and IL-6, after PH create a ripple of effects that profoundly influence the endogenous production of numerous other growth regulators.

The cellular source(s) of the cytokines that are produced after PH are being identified. More than a decade ago, Cornell demonstrated that liver regeneration was inhibited by various strategies that limited the intestinal production bacterial lipopolysaccharide (LPS) endotoxin (115, 116). This observation suggests that intestine-derived bacterial products, such as LPS, which are potent-inducers of macrophage TNF α production, mediate TNF α

induction after PH. However, the discordance between the kinetics of TNF α induction by LPS in Kupffer cells (which requires about an hour) (117) and the kinetics of TNF α induction after PH (which occurs within minutes) (118) suggest that this explanation cannot be entirely correct. The rapidity of these TNF-dependent responses suggests that PH initially either increases the delivery of TNF α to the liver or activates a latent pool of pre-formed TNF α protein that exists in some liver cell population (s), perhaps even hepatocytes themselves. Shortly thereafter. the hepatic expression of TNF mRNA increases transiently. While this delayed TNF induction might result from the activation of hepatic macrophages, this possibility is not supported by experiments that used gadolinium chloride to deplete hepatic Kupffer cells before PH. In rats that underwent PH after gadolinium chloride treatment, increases in hepatic TNF α mRNA levels were amplified (rather than abolished), suggesting that cells other than macrophages are the predominant producers of TNF α after PH (110, 119). Consistent with this concept, in situ reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction studies to localize TNFα gene expression demonstrated no detectable expression of TNF α in sinusoidal lining cells of normal or gadolinium chloride-pretreated rats before PH. During the initial hour after PH, clusters of small TNF-positive cells were observed in peri-portal areas around portal venules and bile ductules of normal rats. These foci were more prominent in gadolinium chloride-pretreated rats. Small TNF (+) cells were also detected near rare terminal hepatic venules. When these studies were done, the cellular sources of TNFa could not be specified with certainty (120). However, the data merit reconsideration given very recent evidence that proliferating oval cells express TNF α during certain rodent models of hepatocarcinogenesis (121). During later time points after PH, cytokine gene expression increases in extra-hepatic sites, such as white adipose tissue (122), contributing to the generalized (i.e., systemic) cytokine response that follows this liver injury. Interestingly, recent bone marrow transplantation experiments in IL-6 deficient recipients demonstrate that bone marrow-derived cells are another source of IL-6 during liver regeneration (123). Taken together, these results demonstrate that liver regeneration is orchestrated by a complex dialogue among various liver cell populations. These interactions ensure the orderly replacement of lost cells without significantly compromising liver-specific functions. Injury-related signals that originate within the liver also help to recruit extrahepatic tissues to release factors (e.g., growthhormones, neurotransmitters, regulator mitogens, cytokines) that augment local repair efforts.

8.2. Matrix deposition and lobular reorganization

Given the importance of nonparenchymal cell activation and matrix production to the pathogenesis of chronic liver disease, it is clear that the regulation of these events during normal regeneration has important implications. After PH, liver nonparenchymal cells enter S phase about 24 hours after hepatocytes. As a result, within 2 to 3 days after PH liver histology is characterized by small clumps of liver cells that surround capillaries (34).

Stellate cell processes then penetrate these clumps and begin to secret laminins and matrix-modeling molecules, changing the capillaries into true sinusoids that become lined by a fenestrated endothelium and Kupffer cells. During the process, the local matrix composition changes from one of high laminin content to that which is more typical of the healthy adult liver (i.e., primarily fibronectin, collagen types I and IV, and smaller amounts of other proteins and glycosaminoglycans). This reconstitutes the liver's lobular architecture and permits blood from portal veins to traverse through sinsoids before emptying into hepatic venules.

Because after PH hepatocytes in periportal zones of lobules proliferate 24 to 36 hours before hepatocytes in pericentral (zone 3) regions, restoration of the normal lobular architecture proceeds in a wavelike fashion from the portal to the central areas of the liver lobules during liver regeneration. By the end of the process, somewhat larger liver lobules have been formed in which the distance between the portal and hepatic venules is longer than it was before PH (33). It remains uncertain if and how these "mega" lobules are remodeled to restore the size and number of hepatic lobules that existed before PH.

9. FUTURE APPLICATIONS OF LIVER REGENERATION KNOWLEDGE

Manipulation of the liver's regenerative response could be used both as treatment modality for various acute and chronic liver diseases, as well as a strategy to expand the efficacy of liver transplantation.

9.1. Rescue from Fulminant Liver Failure

Most patients who die as a result of massive acute hepatic necrosis, die because the injured liver fails to perform many of its vital functions. Because hepatocyte proliferation is exuberant in the livers of such patients, one treatment option is to supplement liver function until the native liver becomes repopulated by a sufficient number of hepatocytes to resume its usual tasks. This strategy requires ready access to relatively large numbers of mature, well-differentiated hepatocytes. A couple of different approaches have been utilized to achieve this objective.

9.1.1. Auxiliary Heterotopic Liver Transplantation

The placement of a small liver graft in the upper abdomen, near the injured native liver (auxiliary heterotopic liver transplantation), has been successful as a "bridge" to recovery in patients with fulminant liver failure (124). Once regeneration of the native liver is complete, immunosuppressive therapy is discontinued, permitting the heterotopically placed allograft to be destroyed. Orthotopic liver transplantation using small for size graft from cadaveric donors is sometimes done to save patients with fulminate liver failure when a full-sized graft is unavailable.

In one study, recipient survival was improved by combining auxiliary partial orthotopic liver donor transplantation to assist the function of the small-for-size graft (125).

9.1.2. Hepatocyte Transplantation

Studies in animals with massive acute hepatic necrosis indicate that suspensions of hepatocytes that are injected into the spleen migrate into the liver, where they replicate and eventually repopulate the organ (27). Even more exciting are recent experiments that suggest bone marrow transplantation might eventually become a treatment for patients with certain types of acute liver failure. Grompe's group showed that the congenitally damaged livers of FAH-null mice (which have tyrosinemia) could be completely repopulated with healthy hepatic progenitors by injecting bone marrow from normal donor mice (7). The demonstration of Y chromosome positive hepatocytes in female bone marrow transplant recipients from male donors proves that bone marrow-derived hepatic progenitors also persist post-natally in humans (6). Therefore, at least theoretically, transplantation of bone marrow or bone marrow-derived hepatic stem cells from healthy donors may become a treatment for tyrosinemia and other congenital liver diseases, such as α1-anti-trypsin deficiency. The efficacy of hepatocyte (as opposed to bone marrow) transplantation has already been demonstrated in humans. For example, this was an effective strategy for transferring genes encoding the low-density lipoprotein (LDL) receptor into patients with congenital LDL receptor deficiency (126). In the latter study, patients with congenital LDL deficiency donated their own hepatocytes, which were manipulated ex vivo to express functional LDL receptors and the, reintroduced into the patient. The necessity of harvesting autologous hepatocytes will be obviated when sufficient numbers of hepatic progenitors can be purified from bone marrow. Assuming that the latter can be achieved, then stem cells from a patient's own bone marrow could be genetically manipulated ex vivo and then re-introduced into the patient. Alternatively, stem cells from healthy bone marrow donors could be transplanted into recipients with genetic liver disease. However, because the donor stem cells might generate progenitors that eventually replace the recipient's own bone marrow, this approach carries the risk of chronic graftversus-host (or autoimmune) disease.

9.1.3. Artificial Liver Assist Devices

Bioartifical liver (BAL)-assist devices offer a less invasive means of temporarily augmenting liver function in patients with liver failure. Current devices use freshly isolated normal porcine hepatocytes or cultured human hepatoma cell lines. As such, the devices require a ready supply of hepatocytes that can survive ex vivo and perform excretory, synthetic, and/or biotransforming functions that cannot be accomplished by the failing native liver. The relative importance of various hepatocyte functions in promoting the recovery of patients with fulminant liver failure is unknown. Nonetheless, two bioartificial devices have demonstrated some efficacy in patients with fulminant liver failure: the BAL, in which pig hepatocytes are attached to microcarriers, and the extracorporeal liver assist device (ELAD), which contains a human liver-derived tumor cell line. Thus far, the benefits of both devices in humans appear to be less impressive than were reported in animal models of acute liver failure (127, 128). Perhaps this reflects present uncertainty about the quantity of

hepatocytes, specific function(s), and duration of support that are required for clinical benefit. It is hoped that a better understanding of the effects that these devices exert on the metabolic functions of the damaged liver and on the recovery process will permit refinements in device design and improved outcomes.

9.2. Treatment of Decompensated Cirrhosis 9.2.1. Small-for-Size Donors (Split Livers and Living Donors)

Approximately 3,000 patients with end-stage liver disease die every year awaiting a suitable liver allograft. The demand for liver allograft is increasing faster than the number of viable donors, thus creating a burgeoning number of patients on waiting lists for liver transplantation. The number of organ donors has reached a plateau in the United States. Thus, it is likely that the number of patients who die while awaiting liver transplantation will continue to rise unless new approaches to expand the donor pool are developed. The liver's innate ability to regenerate permits the transplantation of smallfor-size grafts. In healthy rodents and relatively wellcompensated cirrhotic humans, the threshold mass of liver tissue that is necessary to preserve important liver-specific functions until regeneration occurs is about 30-40% of the original healthy liver mass. Thus, a single donor liver can be divided between two recipients, doubling the size of the donor pool. In addition, liver lobes can be procured from living donors by partial hepatectomy and then, transplanted into recipients after the diseased liver has been removed. Recipients of either split-liver grafts or small-for-size grafts from living donors will eventually regenerate to sizes that are appropriate for the recipient's body mass. The remnant liver in living donors also regenerates to replace the resected liver, protecting the donor from long-term deficits. In both situations, the regenerative response is typically accomplished within a month post-operatively. However, clinical experience demonstrates significantly increased perioperative mortality in recipients who were severely decompensated at the time of transplantation. The poor outcome in this group of patients suggests that some process either inhibits regeneration or exacerbates transplantation-related injury in their grafts. Until this phenomenon is better understood and treated, severely ill cirrhotic patients are not candidates for transplantation with reduced size grafts. However, there is great optimism that transplants from living donors will significantly decrease the spent on waiting lists for many, more stable patients with advanced liver disease (129).

10. SUMMARY

Unlike other vital organs, the liver typically regenerates after injury. Indeed, the very factors that cause liver injury initiate a reparative process in the residual liver that includes the induction of cytoprotective mechanisms, deletion of mortally wounded cells, repair of less damaged survivors, liver cell proliferation to replace the cells that died, the deposition of new matrix, and tissue remodeling to restore normal hepatic mass and architecture. During liver regeneration, the liver normally continues to perform vital, liver-specific functions. Unfortunately, the hepatic

regenerative response sometimes becomes disrupted either failing to occur or occurring in a disordered, or incomplete fashion. Abnormal regeneration contributes to the pathogenesis of fulminate liver failure, cirrhosis, and primary liver cancers. Research in the field of regenerative biology has identified several events that are required for liver regeneration. These include injury-induced changes in the hepatic microenvironment, the ability of surviving liver cells and/or their progenitors to proliferate, and a temporary suspension of homeostatic mechanisms that normally couple cell proliferation to programmed cell death. The signals that mediate these complex biologic responses are being detailed. A better understanding of the extra- and intracellular signals that prompt the injured liver to regenerate should suggest treatments to promote liver regeneration in patients with otherwise fatal liver diseases.

11. REFERENCES

- 1. Michalopoulos GK, M.C. DeFrances: Liver regeneration. *Science*; 276:60-66 (1997)
- 2. Petkov PM, K. Kim, J. Sandhu, D.A.Shafritz, M.D. Dabeva: Identification of differentially expressed genes in epithelial stem/progenitor cells of fetal rat liver. *Genomics*; 68:197-209 (2000)
- 3. Paku S, J. Schnur, P. Nagy, S.S. Thorgeirsson: Origin and structural evolution of the early proliferating oval cells in rat liver. *Am J Pathol*; 158:1313-1323 (2001)
- 4. Sell S.: Heterogeneity and plasticity of hepatocyte lineage cells. *Hepatology*, 33:738-750 (2001)
- 5. Bucher N.L.R.: Liver regeneration: an overview. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol*; 6:615-624 (1991)
- 6. Thiese ND, M. Nimmakayalu, R. Gardner, P. B. Illei, G. Morgan, X. Teperm, O. Henegariu, D. S. Krause: Liver from bone marrow in humans. *Hepatology*; 32:11-16 (2000)
- 7. Lagasse E, H. Connors, M. Al-Dhalimy, M. Reitsma, M. Dohse, S. Osborne, X. Wang, M. Finegold, I. L. Weissman, M. Grombe: Purified hematopoietic stem cells can differentiate into hepatocytes in vivo. *Nat Med*; 6:1229-1234 (2000)
- 8. Petersen BE, W. C. Bowen, K. D. Patrene, W. M. Mars, A. K. Sullivan, T. Mura, S. S. Boggs, J. S. Greenberger, J. P. Goff: Bone marrow as a potential source of hepatic oval cells. *Science*; 284:1168-1170 (1999)
- 9. Zajicek G, R. Oren, M. J. Weinreb: The streaming liver. *Liver*; 5:293-300 (1985)
- 10. Zajicek G, I. Ariel, N. Arber: The streaming liver. III. Littoral cells accompany the streaming hepatocyte. *Liver*; 8:213-218 (1988)
- 11. Arber N, G. Zajicek: Streaming liver. VI: Streaming intra-hepatic bile ducts. *Liver*; 10:205-208 (1990)
- 12. Werlich T, K. J. Stiller, G. Machnik: Experimental studies on the stem cell concept of liver regeneration. *Exp Toxicol Pathol*; 50:73-77 (1998)
- 13. Fernandez-Salguero P, T. Pineau, D. M. Hilbert, T. McPhail, S. S. Lee, T. Ki, D. W. Nebert, S. Rudikoff, J. M. Ward, F. J. Gonzalez: Immune system impairment and hepatic fibrosis in mice lacking the dioxin-binding Ah receptor. *Science*; 268:638-639.(1995)
- 14. Schweizer W, P. Duda, S. Tanner, C. Balsiger, F. Hoflin, L. H. Blumgart, A. Zimmermann: Experimental

- atrophy/hypertrophy complex (AHC) of the liver portal vein, but not bile duct obstruction, is the main driving forces for the development of AHC in the rat. *J Hepatol*; 23:71-78 (1995)
- 15. Bralet MP, S. Branchereau, C. Brechot, N. Ferry: Cell lineage study in the liver using retroviral mediated gene transfer. Evicence against the streaming of hepatocytes in normal liver. *Am j Pathol*; 144:896-905 (1994)
- 16. Kennedy S, S. Rettinger, M. W. Flye, K. P. Ponder: Experiments in transgenic mice show that hepatocytes are the source for postnatal liver growth and do not stream. *Hepatology*: 22:160-168 (1995)
- 17. Beschorner WE, C. I. Civin, L. C. Strauss: Localization of hematopoietic progenitors in tissue with the My-10 monoclonal antibody. *Am J Pathol*; 119:1-4 (1985)
- 18. Nakanuma Y, K. Tsuneyama, M. Ohbu, K. Katayanagi: Pathology and pathognesis of idiopthic portal hypertension with an emphasis on the liver. *Path Res*; 197:65-76 (2001)
- 19. Souto M, J. M. Llanos: The circadian optimal time for hepatectomy in the study of liver regeneration. *Chronobiol Int*; 2:169-175 (1985)
- 20. Barbason H, B. Bourzhzah, C. Herens, J. Marchandise, J. Sulon, J. Van Cantfort: Circadian synchronization of liver regeneration in adult rats: the role played by adrenal hormones. *Cell Tissue Kinet*; 22:451-460 (1989)
- 21. Parzefall W, P. R. Galle, R. Schulte-Hermann: Effect of calf and rat serum on the induction of DNA synthesis and mitosis in primary cultures of adult rat hepatocytes by ciproterone acetate and epidermal growth factor. *In Vitro Cell Dev Biol*; 21:665-673 (1985)
- 22. Nakamura T, Y. Tomita, A. Ichihara: Density-dependent growth control of adult rat hepatocytes in primary culture. *J Biochem*; 94:1029-1035 (1983)
- 23. Kimura M, M. Ogihara: Density-dependent proliferation of adult rat hepatocytes in primary culture induced by epidermal growth factor is potentiated by cAMP-elevating agents. *Eur J Pharmacol*; 324:267-276 (1997)
- 24. Chenoufi N, O. Loreal, B. Crenou, S. Cariou, N. Hubert, P. Leroyer, A. Bris, G. Lescot: Iron may induce both DNA synthesis and repair in rat hepatocytes stimulated by EGF/pyruvate. *J Hepatol*; 26:650-658 (1997) 25. Kimura M, M. Ogihara: Effects of insulin-like growth factor I and II on DNA synthesis and proliferation in primary cultures of adult rat hepatocytes. *Eur J Pharmacol*; 354:271-281 (1998)
- 26. Kimura M, S. Osumi, M. Ogihara: Stimulation of DNA synthesis and proliferation by prostaglandins in primary cultures of adult hepatocytes. *Eur J Pharmacol*; 404:259-271 (2000)
- 27. Ilan Y, N. Roy-Chowdhury, R. Prakash: Massive repopulation of rat liver by transplantation of hepatocytes into specific lobes of the liver and ligation of portal vein branches to other lobes. *Transplantation*; 64:8-13 (1997)
- 28. Higgins GM, R. M. Andersen: Experimental pathology of liver: restoration of liver of the white rat following partial surgical removal. *Arch Pathol*; 12:186-202 (1931)
- 29. Fujio K, R. P. Evarts, Z. Hu, E. R. Marsden, S. S. Thorgeirsson: Expression of stem cell factor and its receptor, c-kit, during liver regeneration from putative stem cells in adult rat. *Lab Invest*, 70:511-516 (1994)

- 30. Gordon GJ, W. B. Coleman. D. C. Hixson, J. W. Grisham: Liver regeneration in rats with retrorsin-induced hepatocellular injury proceeds through a novel cellular response. *Am J Pathol*; 156:607-619 (2000)
- 31. Gordon GJ, W. B. Coleman, J. W. Grisham: Temporal analysis of hepatocyte differentiation by small hepatocyte-like progenitor cells during liver regeneration in retrorsine-exposed rats. *Am J Pathol*; 157:771-786 (2000)
- 32. Nagy P, T. Teramoto, V. M. Factor, A. Sanchez, J. Schnur, S. Paku, S. S. Thorgeirsson: Reconstitution of liver mass via cellular hypertrophy in the rat. *Hepatology*; 33:339-345 (2001) 33. Zajicek G, N. Arber, D. Schwartz-Arad: Streaming liver. VIII: Cell production rates following partial hepatectomy. *Liver*; 11:347-351 (1991)
- 34. Werlich T, K. J. Stiller, G. Machnik: Experimental studies on the stem cell concept of liver regeneration. *Exp Toxicol Pathol*; 50:73-77 (1998)
- 35. Kanashima R, N. Nagasue, M. Kobayashi, K. Inokuchi: A comparative study of lysomal enzyme contents in blood and liver of rats following partial hepatectomy. *Hepatogastroenterology*; 27:448-456 (1980)
- 36. Colletti LM, S. L. Kunkel, M. Green, M. Burdick, R. M. Strieter: Hepatic inflammation following 70% hepatectomy may be related to up-regulation of epithelial neutrophil activating protein-78. *Shok*; 6:397-402 (1996)
- 37. Greco M, L. Moro, G. Pellecchia, S. DiPede, F. Guerrieri: Release of matrix proteins from mitochondria to cytosol during prerepolicative phase of liver regeneration. *FEBS Lett*; 427:179-182 (1998)
- 38. Lee FYJ, Y. Li, H. Zhu, S. Q. Yang, H. Z. Lin, M. Trush, A. M. Diehl: Tumor necrosis factor alpha increases mitochondrial oxidant production and induces expression of uncoupling protein-2 expression in the regenerating mouse liver. *Hepatology*; In press (1999)
- 39. Michalopoulos G.: Liver regeneration: molecular mechanisms of growth control. *FASEB J*; 4:176-187 (1990) 40. Recknagel R, E. Glende, J. Dolak, R. Waller: Mechanisms
- 40. Recknagel R, E. Glende, J. Dolak, R. Waller: Mechanisms of carbon tetrachloride toxicity. *Pharmacol Ther*; 43:139-154 (1989)
- 41. Akerman P, P. Cote, S. Q. Yang, C. McClain, S. Nelson, G. J. Bagby, A. M. Diehl: Antibodies to tumor necrosis factor alpha inhibit liver regeneration after partial hepatectomy. *Am J Physiol*; 263:G579-G585 (1992)
- 42. Yamada Y, I. Kirillova, J. J. Peschon, N. Fausto: Initiation of liver growth by tumor necrosis factor: Deficient liver regeneration in mice lacking type I tumor necrosis factor receptor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci*; 94:1441-1446 (1997)
- 43. Yamada Y, E. M. Weber, I. Kirillova, J. J. Peschon, N. Fausto: Analysis of liver regeneration in mice lacking type 1 or type 2 tumor necrosis factor receptor: requirement for type 1 but not type 2 receptor. *Hepatology*; 28:959-970 (1998)
- 44. Leist M, F. Gantner, S. Jilg, A. Wendel: Activation of the 55 kDa TNF receptor is necessary and sufficient for TNF induced liver failure, hepatocyte apoptosis, and nitrite release. *J Immunol*; 154:1307-1316 (1995)
- 45. Leist M, F. Cantner, I. Bohlinger, P. C. Germann, G. Tiegs, A. Wendel: Murine hepatocyte apoptosis induced in vitro and in vivo by TNF-alpha requires transcriptional arrest. *J Immunol*; 153:1778-1788 (1994)
- 46. Cressman DE, L. E. Greenbaum, B. A. Haber, R. Taub: Rapid activation of PHF/NF kappa B in hepatocytes, a

- primary response in the regenerating liver. *J Biol Chem*; 269:30429-30435 (1994)
- 47. Iimuro Y, T. Nishiura, C. Hellerbrand, K. E. Behrns, R. Schoonhoven, J. W. Grisham, D. A. Brenner: NF kappa B prevents apoptosis and liver dysfunction during liver regeneration. *J Clin Invest*, 101:802-811 (1998)
- 48. Kim YM, R. V. Talanian, T. R. Billiar: Nitric oxide inhibits apoptosis by preventing increases in caspase-3-like activity via two distinct mechanisms. *J Biol Chem*; 272:31138-31148 (1997)
- 49. Li J, T. R. Billiar, R. V. Talanian, Y. M. Kim: Nitric oxide reversibly inhibits seven members of the caspase family via S-nitrosylation. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*; 240:419-424 (1997)
- 50. Mohr S, B. Zech, E. G. Lapetina, B. Brune: Inhibition of caspase-3 by S-nitrosation and oxidation caused by nitric oxide. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*; 238 (1997)
- 51. Obolenskaya M, A. Schulze-Specking, B. Plaumann, N. Freudenberg, K. Decker: Nitric oxide production by cells isolated from regenerating rat liver. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*; 204:1305-1311 (1994)
- 52. Rai RM, F. Y. J. Lee, A. Rosen, S. Q. Yang, H. Z. Lin, Q. Koteish, F. Y. Liew, C. Zaragoza, C. Lowenstein, A. M. Diehl: Impaired liver regeneration in inducible nitric oxide synthase-deficient mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*; 95:13829-13834 (1998)
- 53. Kren BT, J. H. Trembley, S. Krarewski, T. W. Behrens, J. C. Reed, C. J. Steer: Modulation of appoptosis-associated genes bcl-2, bcl-x, and bax during liver regeneration. *Cell Growth & Differentiation*; 7:1633-1642 (1996)
- 54. Mishoulon D, B. Rana, N. L. R. Bucher, S. R. Farmer: Growth-dependent inhibition of CCAAT enhancer-binding protein (C/EBP alpha) gene expression during hepatocyte proliferation in the regenerating liver and in culture. *Mol Cell Biol*; 12:2553-2560 (1992)
- 55. Diehl AM, S. Q. Yang: Regenerative changes in C/EBP alpha and C/EBP beta expression modulate binding to the C/EBP site in the c-fos promoter. *Hepatology*; 19:447-456 (1994)
- 56. Rana B, Y. Xie, D. Mischoulon, N. L. Bucher, S. R. Farmer: The DNA binding activity of C/EBP transcription factor is regulated in the G1 phase of the cell cycle. *J Biol Chem*; 270 (1995)
- 57. Ramadori G, J. Van Damme, H. Rieder, K. H. Meyer Zum Buschenfeld: Interleukin-6, the third mediator of acute phase reaction, modulates hepatic protein synthesis in human and mouse: comparison with interleukin-1B and tumor necrosis factor-alpha. *Eur J Immunol*; 18 (1998)
- 58. Isshiki H, S. Akira, T. Sugita, Y. Nishio, S. Hashimoto, T. Pawlowski, S. Suematsu: Reciprocal expression of NF-Il6 and C/EBP in hepatocytes: possible involvement of NF-Il6 in acute phase protein gene expression. *New Biol*; 3:63-70 (1991)
- 59. Alam T, M. R. An, J. Papaconstantinou: Differential expression of three C/EBP isoforms in multiple tissues during the acute phase response. *J Biol Chem*; 267:5021-5024 (1992)
- 60. Baumann H, J. Gauldie: The acute phase response. *Immunol Today*; 15:74-80 (1994)
- 61. Koj A. Initiation of acute phase response and synthesis of cytokines. *Biochem Biophys Acta*; 1317:84-94 (1996)
- 62. Moshage H. Cytokines and the hepatic acute phase response. *J Pathol*; 181:257-266 (1997)

- 63. Cao Z, R. M. Umek, S. L. McKnight: Regulated expression of three C/EBP isoforms during adipose conversion of 3T3-L1 cells. *Genes & Devel*; 5:1538-1552 (1991)
- 64. Umek RM, A. D. Friedman, S. L. McKnight: CCAAT/enhancer binding protein: a component of a differentiation switch. *Science*; 251:288-292 (1991)
- 65. Landschulz WH, P. F. Johnson, E. Y. Adashi, B. J. Graves, S. L. McKnight: Isolation of recombinant copy of the gene encoding C/EBP. *Genes & Devel*; 5:786-800 (1988)
- 66. Cornelius P, M. Marlow, M.D. Lee, P. H. Pekela: The growth factor-like effects of tumor necrosis factor-alpha. *J Biol Chem*; 265:2056-20516 (1990).
- 67. Akira S, H. Isshiki, T. Sugita, O. Tanabe, S. Kinoshita, Y. Nishio, T. Nakajima: A nuclear factor for IL-6 expression (NF-IL-6) is a member of a C/EBP family. *EMBO J*; 9:1897-1906 (1990)
- 68. Diehl AM, S. Q. Yang, M. Yin, H. Z. Lin, S. Nelson, G. Bagby: Tumor necrosis factor alpha modulates CCAAT/Enhancer binding proteins activities and promotes hepatocyte-specific gene expression during liver regeneration. *Hepatology*; 22:252-261 (1995)
- 69. Yin M, S. Q. Yang, H. Z. Lin, M. D. Lane, S. Chatterjee, A. M. Diehl: Tumor necrosis factor alpha promotes nuclear localization of cytokine-inducible CCAAT/enhancer binding protein isoforms in hepatocytes. *J Biol Chem*; 271:17974-17978 (1996)
- 70. Timchenko NA, M. Wilde, M. Nakanishi, J. R. Smith, G. J. Darlington: CCAAT/enhancer-binding protein alpha (C/EBP alpha) inhibits cell proliferation through the p21 (WAF-1/CIP-1/SDI-1) protein. *Genes Dev*; 10:804-815 (1996)
- 71. Harris TE, J. H. Albrecht, M. Nakanishi, G. J. Darlington:. CCAAT/enhancer-binding protein-alpha cooperates with p21 to inhibit cyclin-dependen kinase-2 activity and induces growth arrest independent of DNA binding. *J Biol Chem*; 276:29200-29209 (2001)
- 72. Wang ND, M. J. Finegold, A. Bradley, C. N. Ou, S. V. Abdelsayed, M. D. Wilde, L. R. Taylor, D. R. Wilson, G. J. Darlington: Impaired energy homeostasis in C/EBP alpha knockout mice. *Science*; 269:1108-1112 (1995)
- 73. Diehl AM, D. Johns, S. Q. Yang, H. Z. Lin, M. Yin, J. Lawrence: Adenovirus-mediated transfer of CCAAT/Enhancer binding protein alpha identifies a dominant anti-roliferative role for this isoform in hepatocytes. *J Biol Chem*; 271:7343-7350 (1996)
- 74. Soriano HE, D. C. Kang, M. J. Finegold, M. J. Hicks, N. D. Wang, W. Harrison, G. J. Darlington: Lack of C/EBP alpha gene expression results in increased DNA synthesis and an increased frequency of immortalization of freshly isolated mouse hepatocytes. *Hepatology*; 27:339-340 (1998)
- 75. Greenbaum LE, W. Li, D. E. Cressman, Y. Peng, G. Ciliberto, B. Poli, R. Taub: CCAAT enhancer-binding protein beta is required for normal hepatocyte proliferation in mice after partial hepatectomy. *J Clin Invest*, 102:996-1007 (1998)
- 76. Kastan MB: Cell cycle. Checking two steps. *Nature*; 410:766-777 (2001)
- 77. Vesey DA, A. C. Selden, A. C. Woodman, H. J. Hodgson: Effect of in vivo administration of an antibody to

- epidermal growth factor on the rapid increase in DNA synthesis induced by partial hepatectomy in the rat. *Gut*; 33:831-835 (1992)
- 78. Mead JE, N. Fausto: Transforming growth factor alpha may be a physiological regulator of liver regeneration by means of an autocrine mechanism. *Proc Natl Acad Sci*; 86:1558-1562 (1989)
- 79. Webber EM, J. C. Wu, L. Wang, G. Merlino, N. Fausto: Overexpression of transforming growth factoralpha causes liver enlargement and increased hepatocyte proliferation in transgenic mice. *Am J Pathol*; 145:398-408 (1994)
- 80. Fausto N, A. D. Laird, E. M. Webber: Liver regeneration II. Role of growth factors and cytokines in hepatic regeneration. *FASEB J*; 9:1527-1526 (1995)
- 81. Uehara Y, C. Mori, T. Noda, K. Shiota, N. Kitamura: Rescue of embryonic lethality in hepatocyte growth factor/scatter factor knockout mice. *Genesis*; 27:99-103 (2000)
- 82. Weinstein M, S. P. Monga, Y. Liu, S. G. Brodie, Y. Tang, C. Li, L. Mishra: Smad proteins and hepatocyte growth factor control parallel regulatory pathways that converg on beta1-integrin to produce normal liver development. *Mol Cell Biol*; 21:5122-5131 (2001)
- 83. Roos F, A. M. Ryan, S. M. Chamow, G. L. Bennett, R. H. Schwall: Induction of liver growth in normal mice by infusion of hepatocyte growth factor/scatter factor. *Am J Physiol*; 268:G380-G386 (1995)
- 84. Yang J, S. Chen, L. Huang, G. K. Michalopoulos, Y. Liu: Sustained expression of naked plasmid DNA encoding hepatocyte growth factor in mice promotes liver and overall body growth. *Hepatology*; 33:848-859 (2001)
- 85. Webber EM, P. J. Godowski, N. Fausto: In vivo response of hepatocytes to growth factors requires an initial priming stimulus. *Hepatology*; 19:489-497 (1994)
- 86. Chin S, S. Ramirez, L. E. Greenbaum, A. Naji, R. Taub: Blunting of the immediate-early gene and mitogenic response in hepatectomized type 1 diabetic animals. *Am J Physiol*; 269:E691-E700 (1995)
- 87. Cruise JL, K. A. Houck, G. K. Michalopoulos: Induction of DNA synthesis in cultured rat hepatocytes through stimulattion of alpha 1 adrenoreceptor by norepinephrine. *Science*; 227:749-751 (1985)
- 88. Hunter T: Protein kinases and phosphatases: the yin and yang of protein phosphorylation and signaling. *Cell*; 80:225-236 (1995)
- 89. Hill CS, T. Treisman: Transcriptional regulation by extracellular signals: mechanisms and specificity. *Cell*; 80:199-212 (1995)
- 90. Auer KL, J. S. Parks, P. Seth, R. J. Coffey, G. Darlington, A. Abo, J. McMahon, R. A. Depinho, P. B. Fisher, P. Dent: Prolonged activation of the mitogenactivated protein kinase pathway promotes DNA synthesis in primary hepatocytes from p21Cip-1 null mice, but not in hepatocytes from p16INK4a-null mice. *Biochem J*; 336:551-560 (1998)
- 91. Tombes RM, K. L. Auer, R. Mikkelsen, K. Valerie, M. P. Wymann, A. Marshal, M. McMahon, P. Dent: The mitogen-activated protein (MAP) kinase cascade can either stimulate or inhibit DNA synthesis in primary cultures of rat hepatocytes depending upon whether its activation is acute/phase or chronic. *Biochem J*; 330:1451-1460 (1998)

- 92. Park JS, L. Qiao, D. Gilfor, M. Y. Yang, P. B. Hylemon, C. Benz, G. J. Darlington, G. Firestone, P. B. Fisher, P. Dent: A role for both Ets and C/EBP transcription factors and mRNA stabilization in the MAPK-dependent increase in p21 (Cip1/Waf1/mda6) protein levels in primary hepatocytes. *Mol Biol Cell*; 11:2915-1932 (2000)
- 93. Bost F, R. McKay, N. Dean, D. Mercola: The JUN kinase/stress-activated protein kinase pathway is required for epidermal growth factor stimulation of growth of human A549 lung carcinoma cells. *J Biol Chem*; 272:33422-33429 (1997)
- 94. Arsura M, F. Mercurio, A. L. Oliver, S. S. Thorgeirsson, G. E. Sonenshein: Role of IkB kinase complex in oncogenic ras- and raf-mediated transformation of rat liver epithelial cells. *Mol Cel Biol*; 20:5381-5391 (2000)
- 95. Beraud C, W. J. Henzel, P. A. Baeuerle: Involvement of regulatory and catalytic subunits of phosphoinositide 3-kinase in NF-kB activation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*; 96:429-434 (1999)
- 96. Beg AA, T. S. Finco, P. V. Nantermet, A. S. J. Baldwin: Tumor necrosis factor and interleukin-1 lead to phosphorylation and loss of I kappa B alpha: a mechanisms for NF kappa B activation. *Mol Cell Biol*; 13:3301-3310 (1993)
- 97. Schulze-Osthoff K, D. Ferrari, K. Riehemann, S. Wesselborg: Regulation of NF-kappaB activation by MAP kinase cascades. *Immunobiology*; 198:35-49 (1997).
- 98. Beg AA, W. C. Sha, R. T. Bronson, S. Ghosh, D. Baltimore: Embryonic lethality and liver degeneration in mice lacking the component of NF-kappa B. *Nature*; 376:167-170 (1995)
- 99. Li Q, D. Van Antwerp, F. Mercurio, K. F. Lee, I. M. Verma: Severe liver degeneration in mice lacking the IkappaB kinase gene. *Science*; 284:271-273 (1999)
- 100. Smits VA, R. H. Medema: Checking out the G(2)/M transition. *Biochim Biophys Acta*; 1519:1-12 (2001)
- 101. Schwartz-Arad D, G. Zajicek, E. Bartfeld: The streaming liver IV: DNA content of the hepatocyte increases with its age. *Liver*; 9:93-99 (1989)
- 102. Zajicik G, D. Schwartz-Arad, E. Bartfeld: The streaming liver. V: Time and age-dependent changes of hepatocyte DNA content, following partial hepatectomy. *Liver*; 9:164-171 (1989)
- 103. Zebrini C, D. S. Weinberg, K. A. Hollister: DNA ploidy abnormalities in the liver of children with hereditary tyrosinemia type I. Correlation with histopathologic features. *Am J Pathol*; 140:1111-1115 (1992)
- 104. Strathdee G, O. J. Sansom, A. Sim, A. R. Clarke, R. Brown: A role for mismatch repair in control of DNA ploidy following damage. *Oncogene*; 20:1923-1927 (2001) 105. Shih SC, O. Stutman: Cell cycle-dependent tumor necrosis factor apoptosis. *Cancer Res*; 56:1591-1598 (1996)
- 106. Bissell DM, S. S. Wang, W. R. Jarnagin, F. J. Roll: Cell-specific expression of transforming growth factor-beta in rat liver. Evidence for autocrine regulation of hepatocyte proliferation. *J Clin Invest*, 96:447-455 (1995)
- 107. Russell WE, R. J. J. Coffey, A. J. Ouellette, H. L. Moses: Type beta transforming growth factor reversibly inhibits the effective proliferative response to partial

- hepatectomy in the rat. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA; 85:5126-5130 (1988)
- 108. Chang H, A. L. Lau, M. M. Maatzuk: Studying TGF-beta superfamily signaling by knockouts and knockins. *Mol Cell Endocrinol*; 180:39-46 (2001)
- 109. Jones DEJ, R. Tran-Paterson, D. M. Cui, D. Davin, K. P. Estell, D. M. Miller: Epidermal growth factor secreted from the salivary gland is necessary for liver regeneration. *Am J Physiol*; 268:G872-G878 (1995)
- 110. Rai RM, S. Loffreda, C. L. Karp, S. Q. Yang, H. Z. Lin, A. M. Diehl: Kupffer cell depletion abolishes induction of interleukin-10 and permits sustained over-expression of tumor necrosis factor alpha mRNA in the regenerating rat liver. *Hepatology*, 25:889-895 (1997)
- 111. Cressman DE, L. E. Greenbaum, R. A. DeAngelis, G. Ciliberto, E. E. Furth, V. Poli, R. Taub: Liver failure and defective hepatocyte regeneration in interleukin-6-deficient mice. *Science*; 274:1379-1383 (1996)
- 112. Saad B, K. Frei, F. A. Scholl, A. Fontana: Maier P. Hepatocyte-derived interleukin-6 and tumor-necrosis factor alpha mediate the lipopolysaccharide-induced acute-phase response and nitric oxide release by cultured rat hepatocytes. *Eur J Biochem*; 229:349-355 (1995)
- 113. Liu Y, G. K. Michalapoulos, R. Zarnegar: Structural and functional characterization of the mouse hepatocyte growth factor gene promoter. *J Biol Chem*; 269:4152-4160 (1994)
- 114. Simpson KJ, N. W. Lukas, L. Colletti, R. M. Strieter, S. Kunkel: Cytokines and the liver. *J Hepatol*; 27:1120-1232 (1997)
- 115. Cornell RP: Restriction of gut-derived endotoxin impairs DNA synthesis for liver regeneration. *Am J Physiol*; 249:R563-R569 (1985)
- 116. Cornell RP: Gut-derived endotoxin elicits hepatotrophic factor secretion for liver regeneration. *Am J Physiol*; 249 (1985)
- 117. Collart MA, P. Baeuerle, P. Vassalli: Regulation of tumor necrosis factor alpha transcription in macrophages: involvement of four kappa B-like motifs and of constitutive and inducible forms of NF-kappa B. *Mol Cell Biol*; 10:1498-1506 (1990)
- 118. Diehl AM, M. Yin, J. Fleckenstein, S. Q. Yang, H. Z. Lin, D. A. Brenner, J. Westwick, G. Bagby, S. Nelson: Tumor necrosis factor alpha induces c-jun during the regenerative response to liver injury. *Am J Physiol*; 267:G552-G561 (1994) 119. Rai RM, S. Q. Yang, C. McClain, C. L. Karp, A. S. Klein,
- A. M. Diehl: Kupffer cell depletion by gadolinium chloride enhances liver regeneration after partial hepatectomy in rats. *Am J Physiol*; 270:G909-G918 (1996)
- 120. Loffreda S, R. Rai, S. Q. Yang, H. Z. Lin, A. M. Diehl: Bile ducts and portal and central veins are major producers of tumor necrosis factor alpha in regenerating rat liver. *Gastroenterology*; 112:2089-2098 (1997)
- 121. Knight B, G. C. Yeoh, K. L. Husk, T. Ly, L. J. Abraham, C. Yu, J. A. Rhim, N. Fausto: Impaired preneoplastic changes and liver tumor formation in tumor necrosis factor receptor type 1 knockout mice. *J Exp Med*; 192:1809-1818 (2000)
- 122. Yang SQ, H. Z. Lin, M. Yin, J. H. Albrecht, A. M. Diehl: Effects of chronic ethanol consumption on cytokine regulation of liver regeneration. *Am J Physiol*; 275:G696-G704 (1998) 123. Sakamoto T, T. Ezure, J. Lunz, N. Murase, H. Tsuji, J. J. Fung, A. A. Demetrious: Concanavalin A simultaneously

Regulation of Hepatic Regeneration

primes liver hematopoietic and epithelial progenitor cells for parallel expansion during liver regeneration after partial hepatectomy in mice. *Hepatology*; 32:256-267 (2000)

- 124. Ghobrial RM, F. Amersi, R. W. Busuttil: Surgical advances in liver transplantation. Living related and reduced size donors. *Clin Liver Dis*; 4:553-565 (2000)
- 125. Inomata Y, T. Kiuchi, I. Kim, S. Uemoto, H. Egawa, K. Asonuma, T. Fujita, M. Hayashi, K. Tanaka: Auxiliary partial orthotopic living donor liver transplantation aid for small-for-size grafts in larger recipients. *Transplantation*; 67:131-1319 (1999)
- 126. Raper SE, J. M. Wilson: Cell transplantation in liverdirected gene therapy. *Cell Transplant*; 2:381-400 (1993)
- 127. Joly A, J. F. Desjardins, B. Fremond: Survival, proliferation, and functions of porcine hepatocytes encapsulated in coated alginate beads: a step toward a reliable bioartificial liver. *Transplantation*; 63:795-803 (1997)
- 128. McCarthy M, A. J. Ellis, J. A. Wendon: Use of extracorporeal liver assist device and auxiliary liver transplantation in fulminant hepatic failure. *Eur J Gastroenterol Hepato*; 9:407-412 (1997)
- 129. Samstein B, J. Emond: Liver transplants from living related donors. *Annu Rev Med*; 52:147-160 (2001)

Key Words: Cytokines, Gene Regulation, Progene Cells, Partial Hepatectomy, Review

Send all correspondence to: Anna Mae Diehl MD, Professor, Johns Hopkins University, 720 Rutland Avenue Ross Research Building # 912, Baltimore, MD21205-2109, Tel: 410-955-7316, Fax: 410-955-9677, E-mail: amdiehl@welch.jhu.edu, amdiehl@jhmi.edu